EFFECT OF FVIII CO-ADMINISTRATED WITH IVIG IN IMMUNITY TO FVIII IN HEMOPHILIA A MICE

EFFECT OF FVIII CO-ADMINISTRATED WITH IVIG IN IMMUNITY TO FVIII IN HEMOPHILIA A MICE

By SAJJAD AFRAZ, MD

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Masters of Applied Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Sajjad Afraz, June 2016

MASTER OF APPLIED SCIENCE (2016) (School of Biomedical Engineering) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

- TITLE: Effect of FVIII co-administrated with IVIG in immunity to FVIII in hemophilia A mice
- AUTHOR: Sajjad Afraz, MD (Tehran University of Medical Sciences)
- SUPERVISORS: Professor Anthony K. Chan, Associate Professor Gonzalo Hortelano

NUMBER OF PAGES: xi, 55

Abstract

Background Hemophilia A is X-linked recessive congenital bleeding disorder. Exogenous infusion of FVIII is the treatment of choice in hemophilia A patients. However, inhibitor development remains the major problem in management of Hemophilia A. It has been showed that IVIG has immunomodulatory effects and it has been being used in the treatment of several autoimmune and inflammatory disorders. Here, we investigated the effect of co-administration of FVIII with IVIG on the development of inhibitor in naive and previously immunized hemophilia A mice.

Methods Initially, hemophiliac mice were immunized by weekly intraperitoneal injection of human recombinant FVIII (rFVIII). The mice then were treated, either by rFVIII/IVIG co-injection or rFVIII alone. In the other experimental group, naive hemophiliac mice were treated with rFVIII/IVIG co-injection for four weeks followed by injection of either rFVIII or rFVIII/IVIG. Plasma's anti-FVIII Ab titer was measured using ELISA.

Results Weekly injection of rFVIII led to the development of anti-FVIII Ab in all previously untreated mice. Treatment of those immunized mice with rFVIII/IVIG co-injection did not reduce the level of pre-existing Ab. On the other hand, naive mice treated with rFVIII/IVIG co-injection showed significantly less Ab titer compared to the mice received rFVIII alone after 4 weeks (mean Ab titre of 1 compared to 39, in rFVIII/IVIG co-injection and rFVIII groups respectively). Although the rFVIII/IVIG-treated mice developed immune response following the injection of rFVIII alone, Ab titer in those that kept receiving rFVIII/IVIG co-injection remained lower compared to other groups during the whole twelve weeks of the experiment.

Conclusions Co-injection of rFVIII with IVIG decreased the anti-FVIII immune response in previously untreated hemophilia A mice. These findings suggest that IVIG coadministration can be effective in management of hemophilia A patients at risk of inhibitor development.

Acknowledgment

I would like to take this opportunity to thank those who made this thesis possible. I would like to express my profound gratitude and deepest appreciation to my supervisors, Dr. Gonzalo Hortelano and Dr. Anthony Chan. I sincerely thank you for your support, encouragement and invaluable guidance throughout my journey. I am obliged to Dr. Howard Chan who has kindly supported me in my research. His guidance has made my foreseen milestones easier to accomplish. Thank you to Dr. Jianping Wen for her support and mentorship throughout my project, this thesis would not have been possible without her help. I would also like to acknowledge Helen Atkinson and Dr. Ivan Stevic for their support and advice.

A special thanks to my parents for their endless love and help throughout my life. I've always learned from you to pursue my dreams and to never give up. To my dearest sister and brother, Sohleh and Sobhan, for their support. And to the love of my life, Maryam. Thank you for always being there for me.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgment	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	viii
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	ix
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xi
CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND	1
Hemophilia A	1
Diagnosis	2
Treatment	3
Factor VIII	5
Inhibitor	6
Generation of inhibitor	7
Immune cells involved in inhibitor development	9
Factors affecting inhibitor generation	
Effect of polymorphism on inhibitor formation	11
Current treatments for patients with inhibitor	
Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG)	14
Effects of IVIG on regulatory T cells	16
Antigenic competition	17
Objectives	
CHAPTER TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Animals	
Experimental groups	
Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA	20
Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA	

CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS26Therapeutic effect of IVIG co-injection26Prophylactic effect of IVIG co-injection29Evaluation of probable effect of hemolysis on ELISA results33Evaluation of probable effect of IVIG molecules on ELISA results35Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment37Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA38CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION42Comparison to other studies43The role of antigenic competition44
Therapeutic effect of IVIG co-injection26Prophylactic effect of IVIG co-injection29Evaluation of probable effect of hemolysis on ELISA results33Evaluation of probable effect of IVIG molecules on ELISA results35Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment37Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA38CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION42Comparison to other studies43The role of antigenic competition44
Prophylactic effect of IVIG co-injection29Evaluation of probable effect of hemolysis on ELISA results33Evaluation of probable effect of IVIG molecules on ELISA results35Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment37Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA38CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION42Comparison to other studies43The role of antigenic competition44
Evaluation of probable effect of hemolysis on ELISA results33Evaluation of probable effect of IVIG molecules on ELISA results35Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment37Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA38CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION42Comparison to other studies43The role of antigenic competition44
Evaluation of probable effect of IVIG molecules on ELISA results 35 Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment 37 Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA 38 CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 42 Comparison to other studies 43 The role of antigenic competition 44
Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment 37 Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA 38 CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 42 Comparison to other studies 43 The role of antigenic competition 44
Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA
CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
Comparison to other studies
The role of antigenic competition
Effect of IVIG in tolerance induction
Limitations
Conclusion and future work
References

List of Figures

Figure 1	FVIII:C gene and FVIII protein structure	5
Figure 2	Mechanisms of tolerance induction and the anti-FVIII immune response	8
Figure 3	Schematic view of IgG molecule	15
Figure 4	Standard curve from the ELISA for samples from G2 and G3	27
Figure 5	Anti-FVIII Ab development following the co- injection of FVIII and IVIG in	
	previously immunized mice	.28
Figure 6	4PL regression line of the ELISA on samples from G5 and G4	30
Figure 7	Comparison of anti-FVIII Ab level between the treatment and the control groups	31
Figure 8	Anti-FVIII Abs development in G4 and G5 compared to G2	32
Figure 9	Anti-FVIII Abs development in G4 and G5 compared to G3	32
Figure 10	Anti-FVIII Ab development pattern of each mouse in G4 and G5	33
Figure 11	Normal and hemolyzed plasma samples	34
Figure 12	Result from anti-FVIII Ab ELISA on naive hemophilia A mice	35
Figure 13	Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA on IVIG solution	36
Figure 14	Results from anti-FVIII Ab ELISA	37
Figure 15	Anti-FVIII Ab development following 12 weeks of treatment	38
Figure 16	Anti-IVIG Ab development following four weekly injection of human IVIG	39
Figure 17	Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA	41

List of Tables

Table 1	Experimental groups	. 20
Table 2	Optimization of anti-FVIII Ab ELISA	.23

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

FVIII	factor eight
%	per cent
TF	tissue factor
FVII	factor seven
FIXa	activated factor nine
aPTT	activated partial thromboplastin time
РТ	prothrombin time
TEG	thrombin generation test
TGT	thromboelastography
IU	international unit
pdFVIII	plasma derived factor eight
rFVIII	recombinant factor eight
APC	antigen presenting cell
TCR	T cell receptor
Th1	T helper type 1
Th2	T helper type 2
IgG	immunoglobulin G
BCR	B cell receptor
Treg	regulatory T cell
vWF	von Willebrand factor
ITI	immune tolerance induction
aPCC	activated prothrombin complex concentrate

IVIG	intravenous immunoglobulin
FcRn	neonatal Fc receptor
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
° C	degrees Celsius
kg	kilogram
g	gram
mg	milligram
ml	milliliter
μl	microliter
Μ	mole
min	minute
ELISA	enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
Ab	antibody
Ag	antigen
ng	nanogram
nm	nanometer
SD	standard deviation
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
p-NPP	p-nitrophenyl phosphate disodium hexahydrate
DEA	diethanolamine
OD	optical density
4PL	4 parameter logistic
wk	week

Declaration of Academic Achievement

The following is a declaration that the content of the research in this document has been completed by Sajjad Afraz and recognizes the contributions of Dr. Gonzalo Hortelano, Dr. Anthony Chan, Dr. Howard Chan and Dr. Jianping Wen in both the research process and the completion of the thesis. I, Sajjad Afraz, performed the animal experiments, and was responsible for data collection, data analysis and writing of the manuscript. Dr. Gonzalo Hortelano provided study design and guidance on testing and analysis and editorial suggestions during writing of my thesis. Dr. Jianping Wen assisted with the study design and the animal experiments and data collection. Dr. Howard Chan and Dr. Anthony Chan provided insightful advice and manuscript review.

CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND

Hemophilia A

Hemophilia A is defined as deficiency of the functional endogenous procoagulant factor VIII (FVIII). It is a genetic disorder and the disease is inherited in an X-linked recessive manner, or it can be resulted from a new mutation in up to 30% of cases [1]. In a healthy individual, vessel injury leads to the platelets activation, as well as the activation of coagulation cascade through extrinsic pathway following the exposure of subendothelial tissue factor (TF) to factor VII (FVII). Thrombin derived from the initial activation of extrinsic pathway cleaves and activates FVIII, which in turn, together with activated factor XI (FIXa), take part in amplification of the cascade and boost thrombin generation [2], [3]. While, the lack of sufficient FVIII in hemophiliacs decreases and delays thrombin generation, that may significantly alter clot formation and result in serious mucosal and internal bleeding.

Hemophilia A affects approximately 1:5000 male births in all races and ethnic groups [4]. In the United States, around 400 babies are born with hemophilia annually [5], and there are approximately 3000 hemophiliacs in Canada [6]. Since it is inherited in an X-linked recessive pattern, the disease occurs almost only in males, with rare exceptions in females. Generally, female individuals are asymptomatic carriers or they may be mildly affected [7]. Clinical symptoms of the disease vary based on the severity of the disease, from easy bruising to more severe spontaneous soft tissue hemorrhage and hemarthrosis [8]. The

disease is classified according to the baseline level of residual FVIII activity in plasma (FVIII:C). The normal range for FVIII clotting activity is 50~150%, whereas the level of FVIII:C in plasma in patient with severe hemophilia A is <1%, which represents up to 70% of cases. FVIII:C level is 1~5% and 5~40% in moderate and mild hemophilia A respectively [1], [8].

Diagnosis

Most people with hemophilia are diagnosed at an early age. They usually present with excessive bruising or intra muscular hematoma with a very little impact [8]. However, people with mild hemophilia may be remain undiagnosed until they are adults. The disease should be suspected in any male patient with a history of easy bruising or excessive bleeding following injury, especially in the presence of frequent bleeding into joint spaces and muscles. Blood coagulation tests will reveal abnormal activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), however, the test may be normal in some patients with mild hemophilia. Other laboratory values like prothrombin time (PT), platelet count and bleeding time will be within normal range in hemophilia [1]. A definitive diagnosis will be made following FVIII activity assays, which will show low FVIII:C level [9]. Positive family history of hemophilia will also be frequently present in patients [7].

Precise measurement of FVIII level is curtail for the diagnosis and management of hemophilia A patients [10]. Different types of assays are available for this purpose. The most common method being used is the one-stage activity assay based on the aPTT [11]. However, those conventional clotting assays are not always accurate in determining plasma level of FVIII:C [7], [10], [12]. Nowadays, other methods that asses global hemostasis including thromboelastography (TEG) and thrombin generation test (TGT) have been introduced in evaluation and monitoring of hemophilia patients.

Treatment

The decreased level of FVIII activity can cause an increased bleeding tendency in hemophiliacs. Degree of the bleeding depends on the level of FVIII:C. The hallmark is deep internal bleeding in joints and muscles which is mainly seen in severe hemophilia [13]. If untreated, frequent bleeding into joint spaces results in hemophilic arthropathy and permanent disability. Most common affected joints are knee, elbow and ankle [9]. In addition, hemophiliac are at risk of excessive life threatening bleeding following major surgeries and trauma [8]. Hence, management of acute bleeding (on demand), as well as prevention of bleeding (prophylaxis) are both crucial in treatment of hemophiliacs [13]. The principal treatment of hemophilia is factor replacement therapy through intravenous administration of exogenous FVIII in both on demand and prophylactic therapy [7]. The factor can be administered during an episode of bleeding or as a prophylaxis in the absence of bleeding. Injection of FVIII during a bleeding episode will stop hemorrhage and secure hemostasis. FVIII dosage needed for this purpose depends on patient profile, site and degree of the bleeding. In most cases more than a thousand international unit (IU) of FVIII is needed for each injection [14]. Management of initial hemarthrosis before occurrence of chronic joint degeneration will prevent the development of arthropathy substantially [13],

[15]. FVIII replacement therapy is started at an early age or with the first episode of bleeding. Treatment regimen varies according to the region [16].

Currently two major types of FVIII products are available. Plasma derived FVIII (pdFVIII), manufactured from human plasma pooled of thousands of donors, was first introduced in 1970s. This was hugely replaced by safer recombinant FVIII (rFVIII) in 1990s in order to minimise the risk of pathogen transmission [17]. Different generations of rFVIII are now available. Furthermore, progress in viral inactivation procedures has been resulted in the development of safer pdFVIII products [9]. rFVIII is being used to a great extent in some countries like Canada, whereas pdFVIII is a product of choice in some European countries [17], [18]. With FVIII products readily available and a proper treatment, there is no significant difference between life expectancy of people with hemophilia and general population [19], [20].

Nonetheless, factor replacement therapy is still very costly [17]. Moreover, FVIII administration can lead to the development of immune responses in the form of allergic reaction or immunoglobulins generation [21]. Production of immunoglobulin against FVIII that inhibit the functions of therapeutic FVIII (inhibitor) remains the major problem in the management of hemophilia A patients.

Factor VIII

FVIII is synthesised mainly in the liver by Kupffer cells and sinusoidal endothelial cells [22]. ProFVIII is a complex glycoprotein with a heavy chain comprising A1-A2-B domains and a light chain comprising A3-C1-C2 domains that interact through a noncovalent link with a metal ion at domains A1 and A3 [22], [23]. FVIII is present in blood in association with vWF which prevents the proteolytic breakdown of FVIII. It is activated following specific proteolytic cuts of B domain residue and one of vWF binding site by thrombin, that results in formation of A1-A2/A3-C1-C2. FVIIIa has a mean life time of 12 hours in humans (8 hours in mice), it is rapidly inactivated by proteolysis and dissociation of the A2 subunit via activated protein C (Fig 1).



Figure 1 FVIII:C gene and FVIII protein structure [23]

FVIII is a large gene with 186 kb pairs. The encoding gene is located on the long arm of the X chromosome (Xq28) [22]. A large number of molecular defects result in hemophilia A and more than 2000 mutations have been identified [24], [25]. The inversion of intron 22 is the most frequent mutation in patients with severe hemophilia, which cause a complete absence of the protein [22]. Further, double or even multiple mutations in the gene may occur in individual that can result in varied phenotype among patients sharing the same types of mutation [26]. The genetic defects can cause a quantitative decrease in FVIII expression or a qualitative decrease in protein function or both, that result in dysfunctional clot formation. Moreover, patients with severe gene alterations frequently develop a higher antibody titre following exogenous injection of FVIII products [21], [27]. Genetic analysis in all patients with haemophilia is recommended [28]. Molecular genetic testing is used to determine the carrier status, for prenatal diagnosis and for prediction of the likelihood of inhibitor development. However, type of the mutation is not a single determining factor for clinical outcome in individuals. Other factors such as coinheritance of prothrombotic genes and the presence of antiphospholipid antibodies are known to contribute to the clinical outcome and phenotypic heterogeneity among patients [26].

Inhibitor

Inhibitors are specific antibodies that develop against FVIII and neutralize the infused factor. Inhibitor development is the most problematic and costly complication of haemophilia treatment today [29], [30]. The occurrence of an inhibitor can result in high

morbidity and a significant reduction in quality of life in patients [31]. Inhibitor development depends on a complex multifactorial immune response that is influenced by several factors [32]. Risk factors for the development of inhibitor to FVIII include the severity of the disease, the genetic mutation responsible for haemophilia, family history of inhibitors, ethnicity, age of first exposure to FVIII, molecular modifications of the FVIII molecule and the number of exposure days to FVIII [29]. Generally, those with large deletions, severe disease, early exposure to FVIII and family history of inhibitor are at the greatest risk [33]. The development of inhibitor antibody occurs in 10~15% of all patients with haemophilia and it is more common in patients with severe hemophilia A. This event is more frequent in hemophilia A than in other inherited bleeding disorders [13].

Generation of inhibitor

The immunology of inhibitor development is complex and not completely understood [34]. The alloimmune response to therapeutic exogenous FVIII products is believed to develop as a classical T-dependent immune response to an external antigen [35]. The immune system in severe hemophilia A patients is activated after FVIII treatment, since no circulating normal FVIII is present in these patients the infused FVIII may be recognized as a foreign protein. The protein will be internalized by antigen presenting cells (APCs). After being processed, oligopeptides will be formed and these peptides bind to the MHC class II molecules. The complex is then transferred to the cell membrane and FVIII derived peptides are presented to the antigen specific CD4+ T cells through T cell receptors (TCRs) on the surface of CD4+ T cells. Activated T helper cells provide activation signals to antigen

specific B cells that in turn proliferate and differentiate into secreting plasma cells and memory B cells (Fig 2) [21], [23], [36]. APCs probably play a key role in directing the immune system toward either tolerance or immunity through activation of T helper 1 (Th1) and T helper 2 (Th2) cells. Secreted immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibody binds to epitopes in FVIII protein (A2, A3, C1 and C2 domains) and prevent its interaction with other coagulation proteins. Inhibitors typically appear following 10~15 exposure days and they rarely develop after 100 exposure days [37]. Generally, there is an increased risk of inhibitor formation following an initial exposure to high dose FVIII. This is because in intensive FVIII treatment, like following surgical procedures or repeated high dose treatment, high doses of FVIII in combination with tissue damage and inflammation stimulate APCs and amplify immunologic response which could promote inhibitor [38].



Figure 2 Mechanisms of tolerance induction (A) and the anti-FVIII immune response (B)[21]

Immune cells involved in inhibitor development

Studies from autoimmune diseases demonstrated that antigen specific auto-reactive B cell are very important auto-antigen presenting cells that activate auto-reactive T cells and break T cell tolerance in autoimmunity [39]. B cells from transgenic mice unable to secrete antibodies can function in disease pathogenesis as important APCs for development of proinflammatory T cell responses. Further, the unique position of marginal zone B cells in spleen allows them to play an important role in immune responses to antigens delivered via the blood [34]. Marginal zone is an important transit area for cells leaving the bloodstream and entering the splenic white pulp and contains specific macrophage populations and non recirculating B cells. The initial event in antibody response against proteins is the recognition of proteins by specific B cells receptors (BCRs) expressed on naive B cells [40]. Most of these B cells reside in and circulate through the B cell follicles of peripheral lymphoid organs such as spleen and lymph nodes. BCR binding of proteins initiates the activation of intracellular signal transduction pathways, which can eventually lead to B cell activation and clonal expansion and differentiation into antibody producing plasma cells. Given sufficient stimulatory signals, activated marginal zone B cells can differentiate into short lived antibody-secreting plasma cells independently of T cell help [40].

The presence of circulating CD4+ T cells that proliferate when stimulated *in vitro* with FVIII derived peptides has been reported in inhibitor positive patients with hemophilia A [41]. Moreover, loss of FVIII alloantibodies was seen with infection of HIV in patients with

a history of high inhibitor titers following a drop in CD4+ cell count [42]. Additionally, culturing CD4+ splenocytes from FVIII infused hemophilia A mice exhibited Th1/Th2 cytokine patterns. By analysis of the IgG isotypes, in one study authors concluded that patients who exhibited a higher anti-FVIII immune response had Th2 driven IgG4 antibodies. They suggested that Th1 cells could play a role in initiating FVIII immune response by the release of IFN- γ , and that Th2 has a role in the development of strong inhibitor development by the release of IL-4 [43]. These finding indicate that both B and T cells (Th1 and Th2) are actively involved in inhibitor development and can be potential targets in inhibitor treatment studies.

Factors affecting inhibitor generation

The type of causative mutation is an important risk factor in inhibitor development [27]. Mutations that are expected to cause complete absence of protein would be associated with a higher risk of inhibitors, whereas those that may result in some protein synthesis would be associated with a lower risk of inhibitor development. An immune response against FVIII may occur due to lack of central tolerance to FVIII protein. Patients with FVIII mutations that allow the production of some non-functional FVIII protein may be able to develop partial tolerance to FVIII protein. In these patients, T cells specific for fewer FVIII epitopes are present in the periphery, and the generation of FVIII specific regulatory T cells (Tregs) is possible. In patients with missense mutations and small deletions and insertions, some production of parts of the FVIII protein may occur, and therefore these patients face a lower risk of inhibitor development. Conversely, in patients with FVIII mutations that result in

complete absence of FVIII protein, central tolerance is lacking. Anti-FVIII specific T and B cells are not negatively selected, and no FVIII specific regulatory T cells can be generated. Subsequently, anti-FVIII specific lymphocytes enter the periphery and may react against infused FVIII product [32].

Type of FVIII concentrate is another determining factor that has been implicated in several studies [44]–[46]. However, controversies remain probably due to heterogeneity of the study populations and different data collection systems in those studies. In overall, findings show no significant difference between recombinant and plasmatic FVIII products with regards to inhibitor development [44]. Nonetheless, in one of the most recent finding reported by SIPPET trial, higher incidence of inhibitor generation was seen in previously untreated patients with severe hemophilia A who were treated by rFVIII as compared to those were treated by pdFVIII [47].

The role of vWF in immune protection is not consistent [48]. However, it is shown that vWF was able to block antigen presentation of FVIII and reduced the immunogenicity of FVIII in mice model of hemophilia A [49]. In addition, in a study by Qadura et al, the mice that received pdFVIII treatment that contained vWF had more splenic CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory cells than mice that received purified rFVIII [50].

Effect of polymorphism on inhibitor formation

Another possible risk factor in inhibitor development is potential mismatched FVIII replacement therapy due to FVIII polymorphism. Six wild type FVIII proteins have been introduced [48]. Among which, two types , which are the only types seen in white people, have been wildly used to produce FVIII concentrates. As a result, inhibitor incidence can be higher in non-white ethnic groups due to the mismatch between the endogenous FVIII haplotype and the infused product [51].

Furthermore, genetic polymorphisms in immune system genes may affect inhibitor development following the factor replacement therapy. Polymorphism in gene coding MHC molecules, T cell surface molecules and immunoregulatory genes, such as IL-10 and TNF- α cytokine genes, potentially influence the risk to develop inhibitors [52].

Current treatments for patients with inhibitor

Once an inhibitor developed, two general treatment options are available for the hemophilia A patient; Using FVIII bypassing agents to treat acute episodes of bleeding, and immune tolerance induction (ITI) to permanently eradicate the inhibitor. Bypassing agents, like activated rFVII and activated prothrombin complex concentrates (aPCC), are effective in management of acute bleeding. They are important tools to reduce morbidity in patients before they undergo ITI and in those with persistent high inhibitors titer [53], but the cost of the treatment limits the extensive use of these agents [54]. Because of the substantial burden causes to the patients and the health care system, inhibitor eradication should be performed in as many patients as possible which this by itself often requires the expensive treatment strategies [37].

ITI currently is the best method to successfully eradicate inhibitors. It is the treatment of choice for patients with inhibitors particularly those with severe hemophilia A. Tolerance induction can eliminate the neutralizing antibodies and allow patients to receive regular FVIII treatment following that. It can prevent the development of haemophilic arthropathy and results in improvement in quality of life and also health economic benefits [33]. The process of ITI involves repeated and long term exposure to FVIII concentrate with the goal of inducing peripheral tolerance to FVIII.

ITI outcome is influenced by different variables. Host related factors like lower inhibitor level before performing ITI and peak titers during ITI, or treatment related variables like bleeding, central venous catheter infection, FVIII product type, and dosing regimen are all potentially correlated with ITI success and time to achieve success [55]. Successful tolerance is defined as the elimination of inhibitor and the ability to use FVIII for the treatment of bleeding without developing inhibitor by patient. This is usually achieve after 14~16 months of treatment [56]. Exact mechanism of action of ITI is not fully understood, some possible mechanisms include inhibition of B cell memory and induction of T cell anergy and suppressor T cells [57]. Immunosuppressive medications can be added to the ITI regimens of patients with poor responses. However, they are currently not considered as a routine part of ITI in patients with hemophilia A [55].

Nonetheless, ITI is not successful in some patients. It leads to a return to a normal FVIII response in 60% ~ 70% of patients underwent induction [58]. Additionally there would be a risk of recurrence in part of patients after successful tolerance induction [57]. Such a risk varied between several studies, and clinical factors that influence the inhibitor recurrence

have not yet been fully understood [57]. Accordingly, the likelihood of success and longer term benefit of ITI needs to be weighed against the risks and costs associated with ITI therapy. Moreover, inhibitors development in patients with mild or moderate hemophilia A can be more challenging than in those with severe hemophilia. The bleeding pattern of these patients often becomes more severe and the benefit of ITI for them not demonstrated [59], [60]. Hence, alternative therapeutic methods are demanded for the group of patients who failed to respond to ITI.

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG)

IVIG is the concentrated antibodies solution purified from thousands of donors [61]. This number of donors help IVIG solution to maintain polyclonal nature of antibody and antibody diversity seen in healthy individual. The main content of IVIG solution is IgG [61]. It was firstly administrated as immunoglobulin replacement therapy to prevent infection in immunocompromised patients in 1950s [62]. Immunomodulatory effects of IVIG was reported for the first time by Imbach et all. in 1980s. They observed elevation in platelet count in ITP patients receiving IVIG [62]. Since then much attention has been paid to this effect of the drug and it has been used in the treatment of increasing number of autoimmune and inflammatory disorders as well as immunodeficiency disorders [63], [64]. IVIG treatment currently is approved in number of diseases. It is also being administrated off-label in variety of the disease [63]. Although IVIG is widely being used in clinics, its mechanisms of action are not fully understood yet [65]. Several mechanisms of action have

been proposed for the multiple beneficial effects of the IVIG. Indeed, IVIG may have multiple mechanisms for its action [62]. However, further investigation are demanded in order to clarify the exact mechanisms [65]. Potential mechanisms of action of IVIG include; a) inhibition of phagocytosis by blocking the binding of immune complex to Fcγ receptors, b) modulation of antibody half life through saturation of neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn),c) antiidiotypic antibodies that downregulate autoreactive B cells, d) upregulation of inhibitory Fcγ receptor, e) inhibition of deposition of activated complement on target tissues[62], [66], [67]. The IgG molecules induce IVIG therapeutic effect by targeting the specific pathway in immune system through each mechanism. Although some of the mechanisms have been proven *in vitro* and *in vivo*, the obtained results were not always consistent [66].



Figure 3 Schematic view of IgG molecule. CH, constant region of heavy chain; CL, constant region of light chain; VH, variable region of heavy chain; VL, variable region of light chain [63].

Effects of IVIG on regulatory T cells

Another proposed mechanism for the effect of IVIG is its effect on the expansion of Tregs [62]. In several mouse model of experiments, IVIG induced proliferation of Tregs in the spleen [68], [69]. Tregs are effective immune cells in tolerance induction [70] and tolerance induction by stimulating the proliferation of Tregs is a potential therapeutic targets in autoimmunity and regulation of the anti-FVIII reactive immune response. A study suggests that the inhibitor positive or negative status of the patients may reside in the inability or ability of the patients' immune system to induce regulatory TGF-β producing Th3 cells in the periphery [71]. Furthermore, when CD4+ CD25+ Tregs from tolerized mice were transferred to syngeneic hFVIII hemophilia A mice, there was tolerance induction in the recipient mice [72]. These observations suggest that both natural and adaptive Tregs may be associated with the control of the anti-FVIII immune response under physiological conditions. Adding to this, there is an epitope for Tregs called tregitope located in IgG molecule [73]. It has been showed that tregitopes induce expansion of CD4+ CD25+ Tregs and enhance immunoregulatory effects. It induced tolerance induction *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and had therapeutic effects on mice model of autoimmune diseases [69], [74].

Taking all together, addition of IVIG will potentially enhance immunoregulatory effect following the infusion of FVIII and may inhibit the inhibitor development in hemophilia A treatment.

Antigenic competition

Antigenic competition is the phenomenon in which inhibition of the immune response to one antigen occurs following its administration in the presence of another antigen [75]. The competition occurs at several levels of the interaction between antigen-immune cells complex and will lead to the reduction of antibody production [76], [77]. As it has been described, related and unrelated peptides compete each other to the MHC binding site, thus in a presence of the ideal amount of second antigen peptides derived from two antigens compete to bind to the related MHC molecule, as a result fewer peptide from each antigen are presented on the surface of the APCs, results in fewer T cells priming thus fewer antibody production [76]. Several factors are involved in this phenomenon. The most important one seems to be a antigen 1 : antigen 2 concentration ratio [78]. In fact, studies have reported the effect of antigenic competition in a decreased level of inhibitor development in hemophilia A mice [75], [79]. Administration of FVIII products in presence of another protein (FIX/vWF) led to the reduction in inhibitor formation and they concluded this reduction is due to the competition occurred between FVIII and the other protein. Same effect can be seen by the addition of IVIG to FVIII in hemophilia A mice in this project. Both human IVIG and FVIII can be recognized as foreign antigens by mice immune system, thus the system will react to each protein. Addition of suitable amount of IVIG to the hrFVIII may obstacle the immune response against FVIII and decrease the inhibitor formation.

Objectives

The main objective of this project is to investigate the potential effect of FVIII coadministration with IVIG on inhibitor formation. Considering the co-injection of additional protein (IVIG) with FVIII, and moreover, based on immunomodulatory effects of IVIG, this can prevent the inhibitor development in mice model of hemophilia A. This project will aim to develop alternative therapeutic method in inhibitor treatment.

Specific Aims

1. To investigate the effect of IVIG co-injection on inhibitor level in pre-immunized hemophilia A mice

2. To investigate the effect of IVIG co-injection on inhibitor development in naive hemophilia A mice

CHAPTER TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Hemophilia A mice (C57Bl/6^{FVIII-/-}) housed in the McMaster University Central Animal Facility were used at age of 8wk ~. The mice were maintained under controlled lighting (12:12 light:dark) and temperature (22° C) with access to food and water. All animal experiments were approved by the Animal Research Ethics Board at McMaster University in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council for Animal Care.

Experimental groups

The experimental groups are shown on Table 1. Groups of hemophilia A mice (G1 ~ G3) were immunized by weekly intraperitoneal injection of human rFVIII (Kogenate® FS, Bayer, Germany) for four consecutive weeks. The mice then either received rFVIII alone or co-injection of rFVIII with human IVIG (G2 and G3, respectively) for another eight weeks. In the other experimental design (G4, G5), naive hemophilia A mice were weekly treated with co-injection of rFVIII with IVIG for four weeks followed by eight weeks injection of either rFVIII (G4) or rFVIII and IVIG co-injection (G5). The treatment period was 12 weeks in total. FVIII administrated dose was 2 IU/mouse and IVIG dosage was 1g/kg. Blood samples were collected 50 ~ 100 μ l each time prior to each injection via retro orbital plexus using heparinised capillary tubes. Plasma was separated and stored in -20°C [80].

	1 st four weeks	2 nd four weeks	3 rd four weeks	Animal number
G1		-	-	5
G2	FVIII	FVIII	FVIII	6
G3		FVIII + IVIG	FVIII + IVIG	6
G4	FVIII + IVIG	FVIII	FVIII	7
G5		FVIII + IVIG	FVIII + IVIG	8

Table 1Experimental groups

Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA

Mouse anti-hFVIII Ab was detected by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [81]. Appropriate ELISA assay was designed and mice immune response to human rFVIII were investigated by measuring the titre of anti-FVIII Ab of plasma. The whole procedure was as below:

Coating

Coating buffer (0.1M/L Na₂CO₃, pH 9.6) was warmed to room temperature and desired number of ELISA strips (Corning[®] clear polystyrene high bind Stripwell, Corning, New York) were assembled in a frame. Previously reconstructed rFVIII solution (1 IU/10µl, equal to 100ng/10µl) was defrosted at room temperature. The coating antigen (rFVIII) was then diluted 1/100 in coating buffer and each well was coated with 100µl of the solution (containing 50ng of rFVIII) using multipipettor. The plate was covered and incubated 2h at room temperature.

Blocking

The plate was emptied and washed with 200µl phosphate buffered saline with Tween 20 (PBS/T; 137mM NaCl, 2.7mM KCl, 10mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4, 0.1% Tween 20) 3 times and it was let dry. Tween 20 was added for more effective washings, to prevent non-specific background staining. To wash, washing buffer was applied with multipipettor, then shook the plate gently, empty plate over the sink and vigorously banged on paper towel. Blocking buffer (5g of skim milk powder in 100ml PBS/T) was made fresh and 200µl was applied to each well with multipipettor. The plate was covered and incubated 2h at room temperature.

Adding samples

The plate was emptied and washed as before. Plasma samples were defrosted at room temperature and were diluted in blocking buffer and mixed on vortex. Then, 100µl of each diluted sample was applied to each well in plate with single channel pipette. The plate was covered and incubated over night at room temperature.

Detecting Ab

The plate was emptied and washed again as before. Detecting Ab (goat anti-mouse IgG (H&L) alkaline phosphatase conjugated antibody, Aviva Systems Biology, San Diego, CA) was diluted in blocking buffer and 100µl of mixed solution was applied to each well with multipipettor. Diluting the antibody in blocking buffer will help minimise non-specific binding and background. The plate was covered and incubated 2h at room temperature.

Chromogenic substrate

The plate was emptied and washed. Developing solution was freshly prepared by dissolving one p-Nitrophenyl phosphate disodium hexahydrate 5mg tablet (p-NPP, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) per 5ml DEA buffer (1M Diethanolamine, 0.5mM MgCl₂, pH 9.8). 100µl of the solution was added per well with multipipettor.

Reading the absorbance

Developing yellow color was evaluated and compared with the standards to get the optimal development time. Color reaction was then stopped by adding 50µl/well of 3M NaOH using multipipettor, with same timing used in the step before. At the end, the absorbance was read at 405nm wavelength using SpectraMax® Plus microplate reader.

Standard curve

Commercial mouse polyclonal anti-human FVIII antibody was purchased (Abcam, Toronto, ON) and used as a standard on each ELISA plate. Two series of two-fold serial dilutions of the commercial antibody was prepared and were applied on plates. Average absorbance value of each set of duplicate standards was calculated, then standard curve was created by plotting the mean absorbance (y axis) against the corresponding dilution (x axis) and drawing a best fit trend line using 4 parameter logistic (4PL) regression model in SigmaPlot (Systat Software, San Jose, CA).

Optimization of anti-FVIII Ab ELISA

Several series of ELISA with varying conditions were performed in order to obtain suitable optical density (OD) amount with the lowest background (Table 2). In each run of experiment, secondary Ab dilution and reading time were changed and the results were compared. Based on the results from Table 2, ELISA with secondary Ab dilution of 1/1000 and the reading time of 20min gave the most desirable result.

Abcam anti-FVIII polyclonal Ab	Secondary Ab	Reading Time	Obtained	
dilution	dilution	(min)	O.D	Background
1/20	1/1000	20	1.58	0.17
1/20	1/1000	30	2.27	0.23
1/20	1/1000	40	2.77	0.3
1/20	1/1000	50	3.01	0.38
1/20	1/1000	60	3.14	0.42
1/20	1/1000	90	3.33	0.63
1/20	1/2000	20	1.07	0.14
1/20	1/2000	30	1.48	0.16
1/20	1/2000	40	1.88	0.2
1/20	1/2000	50	2.17	0.24
1/20	1/2000	60	2.42	0.26
1/20	1/2000	90	2.86	0.36
1/20	1/5000	20	0.46	0.12
1/20	1/5000	30	0.66	0.14
1/20	1/5000	40	0.88	0.16
1/20	1/5000	50	1.05	0.14
1/20	1/5000	60	1.2	0.2
1/20	1/5000	90	1.69	0.25

Table 2 Optimization of anti-FVIII Ab ELISA

Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA

Similar method was used to detect mouse anti-human IVIG Ab in the sample plasma. Briefly, all wells were coated with hIVIG 100ng/well in 100 µl of coating buffer. Blocking steps were under taken following incubation period and washing the plates. The samples then were applied to each well same as above, incubated and the plates were washed. Next, 100µl of goat anti-mouse IgG with a 1:10000 dilution was applied to each well and incubated. The plates were washed and 100µl of substrate was loaded into the wells. The reaction was stopped at 20min by adding 50µl of 2.5M H₂SO₄ and the plates were read at 450nm wavelength.

Calculations and Statistical Analysis

To make the results obtained from different ELISA comparable, OD values were converted to titres based on a standard curve on each plate. By creating a 4PL regression line in SigmaPlot, the equation of the graph would be calculated as:

$$y = d + \frac{a - d}{1 + \left(\frac{x}{c}\right)^b}$$

In which, y = absorbance, x = concentration, a = minimum asymptote, d = maximum asymptote, c = inflection point, b = Hill's slope of the curve.

By solving the equation for x and multiply it by the dilution factor, the titre of each given OD was calculated.

$$x = c \times \left(\left(\frac{a-d}{y-d} - 1 \right) \right)^{\wedge} \left(\frac{1}{b} \right)$$

All titre values in the result section are shown using the same calculation.

A cut-off point was calculated as an average of negative samples plus 3 Standard Deviation (SD) [82]. Plasma samples from untreated hemophilia A mice (i.e. samples from day 0 of mice in G2~G5) in addition to negative controls (dilution buffer) on each plate were considered as negative samples. There were total of 37 negative samples. Values below the cut-off points were considered negative.

Data are expressed as mean + SD. Graphs were produced in Microsoft Excel 2007. Comparison of data was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 22 using One Way ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test. Values p < 0.05 were considered significant.

CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS

Therapeutic effect of IVIG co-injection

The effect of FVIII and IVIG co-administration in previously immunized hemophilia A mice was evaluated by comparing anti-FVIII Ab level between G2 and G3 (Fig 5a). Fig 4 indicates a standard curve of related ELISA. The absorbance cut-off was 0.82, any value below that was considered negative. The hemophilia A mice were first immunized in both groups through weekly injection of rFVIII 2IU for four weeks. FVIII inhibitor level is deemed to be high at this point. The animals then received mixed solution of FVIII (2IU) and IVIG (1g/kg) for eight weeks in G3 to assess the treatment's effects on already developed inhibitor level. The mice in G2 kept receiving the same dose of rFVIII for another eight weeks as a control. One mouse from each group expired during the experimental period due to the complication from the sample collection procedure. Anti-FVIII Ab developed in all mice after four weeks. As it is shown, the level of antibody increased gradually during the first four weeks and kept increasing in both groups following that. The differences between two groups were not significant (Fig 5a).



Figure 4 Standard curve from the ELISA for samples from G2 and G3. X axis is concentration and Y axis is absorbance. $R^2 = 0.9999$.







c)



Figure 5 Anti-FVIII Ab development following the co- injection of FVIII and IVIG in previously immunized hemophilia A mice. a) First, mice were immunized with FVIII during the first four weeks, then they started receiving FVIII + IVIG (G3), or kept receiving FVIII alone (G2). The differences between two groups are not significant. b) Antibody development pattern of each mouse in G2 and G3. c) Antibody level in mice in G1 as another control group, in which animals did not receive any drug following the four weeks of immunization with FVIII. Error bars indicate SD.

Prophylactic effect of IVIG co-injection

Effect of FVIII and IVIG co-injection on inhibitor development in naive hemophilia A mice was evaluated. Naive mice were treated with FVIII + IVIG for four weeks. Comparison of anti-FVIII Ab level between treatment and the control groups is indicated in Fig 7. Comparing to the mice received FVIII alone, the Ab level was significantly lower in the treatment group at week 4 (p<0.001). While all animals in control group produced anti-FVIII Ab, only two mice in the treatment group developed antibody against FVIII and no antibodies were detected in the other mice following four weeks of the treatment.

Mice then received FVIII for the remaining eight weeks in G4 to evaluate the tolerance induction effect of the treatment, whereas mice in G5 were treated with FVIII and IVIG co-injection for another eight weeks. G2 (12 wk injection of FVIII) and G3 (4 wk injection of FVIII followed by 8 wk of FVIII/IVIG co-injection) were used as control groups. One animal from G4 was euthanized during the experiment due to the complication following the bleeding. In addition, anti-FVIII Ab development in each individual mouse is shown in Fig 10. Cut-off point was calculated as 1.24 and 1.06 for the relevant ELISA for G4 and G5 respectively. All mice in G4 developed antibody following the injection of FVIII. Antibody level against FVIII was still negative in two mice from G5 after six weeks. However, the antibody level became positive in all animals in G5 after eight weeks.

Anti-FVIII Ab generation rate increased in G4 following the exclusion of IVIG from the treatment. There was no significant difference in antibody levels in G4 compared to those of

G2 and G3 (Fig 8 & Fig 9). Although the antibody level gradually started to increase in mice in G5, the level was significantly lower compared to G2 over the whole experimental period except at week 8 (Fig 8, p < 0.05). This difference was not significant in G5 compared to G3, however, the Ab level remained lower in G5 during the whole experiment (Fig 9; mean titre of 87 compared to 233 at week 12).



Figure 6 4PL regression line of the ELISA on samples from G5 (a) and G4 (b). X axis indicates concentration and Y axis indicates absorbance. R² = 0.9986 and 0.9999 respectively.



Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA

Figure 7 Comparison of anti-FVIII Ab level between the treatment and the control groups. Mice in treatment group received FVIII + IVIG. Mice in control group received FVIII alone. The antibody level was significantly lower in the treatment group at 4 weeks (** p<0.001). Error bars indicate SD.



Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA

Figure 8 Anti-FVIII Abs development in G4 and G5 compared to G2. Mean titre at each time point is compared to mean titer of G2. Antibody level was significantly lower in G5 compared to G2 at 6 (** p=0.005), 10 (* p<0.05) and 12 weeks (# p<0.05). The Data was not significantly different in G4 compared to G2. Error bars indicate SD.



Figure 9 Anti-FVIII Abs development in G4 and G5 compared to G3. Mean titre at each time point is compared to mean titer of G3. The difference was not significant. Error bars indicate SD.



Figure 10 Anti-FVIII Ab development pattern of each mouse in G4 and G5. Mice in both groups were treated with FVIII and IVIG co-injection for the first four weeks. Mice in G4 then received FVIII alone, while mice in G5 kept receiving FVIII together with IVIG. Data are shown as titre.

Evaluation of probable effect of hemolysis on ELISA results

Since some degree of hemolysis were inevitable during collection of blood samples, another experiment was conducted so as to investigate the possible effect of hemolysis on the obtained results. For this, two blood samples were collected from a naive hemophilia mouse. Hemolysis was induced mechanically in one of the samples by repetitive suction using a core needle during the blood collection (Fig 11a). Normal and hemolyzed samples then were mixed together with different ratio into several eppendorf tubes. Each tube contains different concentration of hemolyzed sample from 0% ~ 100%. Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA was performed for all mixed samples based on the same protocol as before. As it is shown, there was no significant difference on the ELISA results obtained from the normal sample and the sample with hemolysis (Fig 12).



Figure 11 Normal and hemolyzed plasma samples. a) Normal and hemolyzed blood samples are shown. Plasma of these two samples were separated and then were mixed in different ratio and ELISA was performed. b) Left tube is related to the plasma sample with intentional hemolysis, other three tubes are from experimental samples which had some level of hemolysis. As it can be seen on the picture, degree of hemolysis in experimental samples was far less compared to the sample with intentional hemolysis.

a)



Figure 12 Comparison of hemolyzed samples and the real samples. ELISA was performed on several test tubes, each tube contains varying ratio of normal and hemolyzed plasma samples. Degree of hemolysis did not affect the absorbance.

Evaluation of probable effect of IVIG molecules on ELISA results

In order to evaluate possible binding and interactions between human IVIG and FVIII molecules in plasma samples, and to rule out the possibility that those potential interaction would affect the results from ELISA, a different ELISA assay was designed. The well was first coated with FVIII s before. Next, human IVIG was applied to the well, and then goat anti-human IgG, as a detecting Ab, was added to the plate and absorbance was read at 405nm wavelength. The absorbance was similar to the negative control (buffer) and no signal was obtained (Fig 13). There was no binding between IVIG and FVIII molecules, human IVIG did not bind to the coated rFVIII in anti-FVIII Ab ELISA.



Figure 13 Anti-FVIII Ab ELISA on IVIG solution. There was no difference in OD compared to the control.

Additional ELISA assay was performed to specify how the presence of IVIG molecules in the test sample may affect the ELISA results. Plate were coated with rFVIII once again. Next, in one well human IVIG was applied. In another well only diluting buffer was applied (negative control). Plasma sample deemed to be containing high amount of inhibitor level (G2M4 at week 8) was applied into the third well as a positive control. For the last well, the same sample as the third well plus human IVIG were applied. Goat anti-mouse IgG was added as a detecting Ab in next step into the all wells. The absorbance was read at 405nm wavelength (Fig 14). Based on the results from, addition of human IVIG did not change the absorbance of the test samples. Presence of IVIG molecules in the test environment did not cause a significant difference in OD obtained from anti-FVIII Ab ELISA.



Figure 14 Results from anti-FVIII Ab ELISA. ELISA was performed on four different samples to specify whether the presence of IVIG molecules in samples would affect the obtained OD or not.

Evaluation of tolerance induction following the treatment

After 12 weeks of treatment, mice in G5 received weekly injection of FVIII alone for another 8 weeks in order to evaluate whether extended treatment with FVIII and IVIG coinjection for 12 weeks would induce active tolerance to FVIII or not. The results are indicated in Fig 15. Following the exclusion of IVIG from the treatment, anti-FVIII Ab generation rate increased and the mice produced more Ab against FVIII. No reduction or inhibition in anti-FVIII Ab development was seen (Fig 15).



Figure 15 Anti-FVIII Ab development following 12 weeks of treatment with FVIII and IVIG co-injection in naive hemophilia mice. Mice were first treated with FVIII + IVIG for 12 weeks and then, they received FVIII alone. Data are shown as OD. Error bars indicate SD.

Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA

To assess mouse immune response against human IVIG, new experimental group was designed (G6). The group of mice were treated with weekly injection of IVIG (1g/kg) for four consecutive weeks and anti-IVIG Ab levels were measured by ELISA (Fig 16a). One mouse out of five expressed a very high level of aniti-IVIG Ab, while remaining mice developed lower Ab level (Fig 16b; absolute OD amount of 22.1 for mouse 1 compare to average absolute OD of 1.1 for other four mice at week 4).

The same assays were conducted to measure anti-IVIG Ab level of mice in G3, G4 and G5 (Fig 17a). In addition, Ab developing patterns of each individual mouse are indicated in

Fig 17b, c, d. Approximately half of mice in each group didn't seem to generate anti-IVIG response or developed very low Ab level (Fig 17b, 17c and 17d, for G3, G4 and G5 respectively).

20 18 16 14 Mean OD 12 10 8 **G**6 6 4 2 0 Week 2 Week 6 Week 3 Week 4 Week 8 Time



a)



Figure 16 Anti-IVIG Ab development following four weekly injection of human IVIG. a) The data are shown as Means OD for each week. Error bars indicate SD. b) Ab developing pattern of each individual mouse in G6.



b)



a)





c)



Figure 17 Anti-IVIG Ab ELISA. a) Anti-IVIG Ab development in mice in G3, G4 and G5. Error bars indicate SD. b), c), d) Ab developing pattern of each individual mouse in G3, G4 and G5 respectively.

CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The aim of this project was to assess how the co-administration of FVIII with IVIG will alter the nature of the immune response generated in hemophilia A mice. The hypothesis was that infusions of FVIII protein together with IVIG will reduce the immune responses to human FVIII, both in naive and hemophilia A mice with inhibitors. Based on the preliminary results, co-injection of FVIII and IVIG will reduce the immune responses to human FVIII in hemophilia A mice. In that previous experiment, treated mice developed significantly low level of anti-FVIII Ab at third week of the experiment. This project's goal was to reproduce those results and furthermore, to evaluate the effect in therapeutic and prophylactic model in longer time period in order to assess the potential clinical relevance of any observed effect. Also it aims to determine tolerance to infused FVIII, and possibly determine the involved mechanism of such effect.

The findings of the study were in part supported by the hypothesis but not fully. Both therapeutic and prophylactic effects of FVIII/IVIG co-injection were investigated in this study. Therapeutic effect was evaluated by investigating the effect of co-injection on already developed inhibitor level in previously immunized hemophilia A mice, while prophylactic effect was evaluated by investigating the effect of co-injection on inhibitor development in previously untreated hemophilia A mice. The findings indicate that FVIII co-administrated with IVIG did not fully inhibit the inhibitor formation, however, it significantly reduced and

delayed anti-FVIII immune response in previously untreated hemophilia A mice compared to controls.

Comparison to other studies

Based on the results obtained from ELISA for anti-FVIII Abs, antibody level in naive hemophilia mice treated with FVIII/IVIG co-injection was significantly lower than hemophilia mice received FVIII alone during the first 4 weeks (Fig 7). This was consistent with the results observed in previous studies. Modulation of immune response to hFVIII by co-administration of other Ag was previously reported [75], [79]. Qadura et al., compared immune responses to human FVIII in hemophilia mice [79]. They treated Balb/c E16 hemophilia A mice with 4 weekly intravenous injection of 2 IU hFVIII either alone or mixed with different doses of human FIX. Total anti-hFVIII Ab was measured using ELISA. They observed that mice generated significantly lower anti-FVIII Ab titres in the presence of high concentration of FIX. Moreover, they did not observe high anti-human FIX Abs in these mice. The authors suggested that antigenic competition might be responsible for the observed effect. Reduction in FVIII inhibitor level was also reported in a study comparing immunogenicity of different human FVIII products in hemophilia A mice [75]. Here mice received FVIII products containing high amount of human-vWF elicited lower anti-FVIII Abs level compared to mice treated with FVIII products without vWF. Unlike patients, the murine immune system recognize human proteins (vWF) contained in FVIII product as a foreign antigen and therefore reacts to them. As a result, competition occur in recognition

and presenting of two antigens to the immune cells, and consequently influence the development of the immune response against FVIII [75].

The role of antigenic competition

Previous studies on antigen competition emphasize that competition happen mainly at the level of peptide binding to the MHC molecules in antigen presenting cells [76], [77]. This may partially explain the negative results obtained in this project, where the therapeutic effect of FVIII and IVIG co-injection was investigated on already developed inhibitor level. Co-injection of FVIII and IVIG did not cause a reduction in inhibitor level in previously immunized mice (Fig 5a and b). Possible explanation for this could be, the mice were immunized following four weeks injection of FVIII prior to the addition of the IVIG to the regimen. In this case proliferation of the cognate T cells had been occurred following the prior immunization, specific antibody producing B cells and memory cells had been formed [40]. Thus the antigenic competition probably did not occur here and the treatment didn't have any effect in the inhibition of the already developing inhibitors. Furthermore, here we used IVIG with the dosage of 1g/kg which mimics the dosage used in clinics. However, studies suggested that sufficient amount of the competitor is needed in order to observe the antigen competition effect [76], [78], [79]. Co-administration of IVIG probably with higher dose may show different effects. Additional experiment with a dose escalation of IVIG is needed to get the ideal amount of IVIG in this regard.

Effect of IVIG in tolerance induction

In order to assess the tolerance to FVIII, naive hemophilia mice which were previously treated with FVIII and IVIG co-injection for four weeks started receiving weekly injection of FVIII alone (G4). Following the discontinuing IVIG and injection of FVIII alone, the inhibitor generation rate increased and the level of anti-FVIII antibody went high in them (Fig 8, 9 and 10). In another experiment, mice in G5 received FVIII injection after being treated with FVIII and IVIG co-injection for twelve weeks. Here again, exclusion of IVIG from the treatment regimen resulted in increased rate of anti-FVIII immune response in mice (Fig 15). In this study, treatment of naive hemophilia mice with FVIII and IVIG coadministration did not induce active tolerance to FVIII. Nonetheless, presence of IVIG in the treatment regimen reduced anti-FVIII Ab levels. Mice in G5 which were treated with FVIII and IVIG co-injection for the whole twelve weeks, produced significantly lower anti-FVIII Ab compared to other groups. (Fig 8 and 9). Although the antibody level gradually increased in them, the treatment effects last longer comparing to the mice in G4 and the level remain significantly lower over the whole experiment time. This effect can be ascribed to the presence of IVIG. The presence of IVIG in the treatment reduced the anti-FVIII immune responses, although this effect was caused by other potential mechanisms and not through tolerance induction.

The IVIG solution used in this experiment was human IVIG. The Imuunomodulatory effects of human IVIG in mice were shown in several studies [68], [83], [84]. Repeated injections of high dose (1.5 g/kg, IP) human IVIG twice a week for three months improved behavioral

function in mice model of Alzheimer's disease, and there was no significant increase in antihuman IgG antibody [83]. In other study, injection of human IVIG, 0.4 g/kg/day for two weeks, increased the proportion of the Tregs in the spleen in mice [68]. IVIG induced minimal immune response in above study. Nevertheless, mouse IVIG is likely to have more significant immunoregulatory effect in mice [67], [68] . In this project, around half mice from the experimental groups which had IVIG in their therapeutic regimen (G3, G4, G5 and G7) did not develop high anti-IVIG immune response, while other produced relatively high anti-IVIG Ab (Fig 16b, 17b, c and d). No logical relation was found between anti-IVIG and anti-FVIII immune response in them. However, there seems to be mice which developed significantly high immune response against human IVIG also had a high anti-FVIII immune response. The immune responses to IVIG in mice suggests the need to evaluate the coadministration of FVIII with mouse IgG, rather than human IVIG. Conducting an experiment in which hemophilia mice are treated with mouse IVIG ,instead of human's, could be beneficial in this regard.

Limitations

One of the limitations in this study was variation in anti-FVIII immune responses seen among mice of the same group. The experimental mice were highly inbred, hence they are considered to share almost identical immune system characteristics. Hemophilia mice in the same group which had received the same treatment should exhibit very similar immune response. In this project ,however, there were at least $1 \sim 2$ mice in each group that behaved in a different way and detected antibody level was not consistent (too high or too low) in them compared to other mice in the group. This may be because of a complex immunology of inhibitor generation. Inhibitor is generated as a result of a cascade of interactions between different cells of the innate and the adaptive immune system [21], any mutation or event that modulates and changes the activation or migration pattern of immune cells will therefore potentially influence the risk to develop inhibitors [34]. Additionally, variations related to the procedure, especially drug injection, could be another explanation for the differences seen among mice.

Mice were injected with the fixed dose of 2 IU rFVIII each time during the whole experiment. FVIII dose was the same for both immunization and treatment period. It is equal to 100 IU/kg for each injection, which is effective dose for immunization but it is higher than the dosage being used in hemophilia treatment [13]. This is important since amount of antigen is one determining factor in stimulating host immune response and antibody production [40]. Treating mice with lower dose of FVIII similar to treating dose in hemophilia patients may show different results.

Due to a limitation in the access to human FVIII products for research purpose, recently expired rFVIII products donated from a hemophilia clinic were used in this project. Since they were expired products FVIII protein might be denatured or inactivated to some degree. Nevertheless, to make sure they were functioning, FVIII protein was tested and they fully interacted with two different commercial anti-FVIII antibodies from different sources.

Presence of hemoglobin derived from hemolysis in the test environment could interrupt an absorbance measurement and affect the results from ELISA. To exclude this supposition additional experiment was conducted, in which there was no change in absorbance based on the result obtained from ELISA on a sample that had intentional hemolysis (Fig 12). Only slightly increase in absorbance was seen (maximum 0.07 in OD) which was ignorable. All experimental samples had less hemolysis compared to the test sample when visually assessed. Also, ELISA plates were frequently and vigorously washed between each step so that any irrelevant molecule would be washed out. Possible binding between IVIG and FVIII molecules, and potential cross reactivity between anti-FVIII Ab and IVIG were also excluded (Fig 13 and 14).

Further, not all anti-FVIII Abs are neutralizing inhibitory antibodies. There are low affinity non-neutralizing specific antibody against FVIII that can be found in healthy individual and hemophilia patients without inhibitor [32]. Some value of anti-FVIII Ab generated in mice could be non-neutralizing antibody. However, anti-FVIII Ab levels shown on the Result section are total antibody amount since ELISA cannot discriminate between inhibitor and those non neutralizing antibodies [85]. To distinguish between neutralizing and non neutralizing antibodies another experiment should be done. Bethesda assay specifies inhibitory antibodies level by incubating test samples with normal pooled plasma and measuring residual FVIII activity in the mixture [86], [87]. Performing Bethesda assay on the experimental samples will define true inhibitor level and will give a better understanding of the nature of anti-FVIII immune response in hemophilia A mice.

Conclusion and future work

In this thesis experiment, I looked at the effect of IVIG co-administration on the immune response to FVIII in hemophilia A mice. The results obtained from anti-FVIII Ab ELISA indicated that prophylactic treatment with FVIII and IVIG co-injection reduces anti-FVIII Ab level in previously untreated hemophilia mice, suggesting that IVIG co-administration will alter the immune response and alleviate inhibitor generation. Findings in this project suggest that IVIG co-administration has no effect on pre-existing inhibitor levels. Co-injection of FVIII with IVIG didn't reduce anti-FVIII Ab level in previously immunized hemophilia mice.

In conclusion, FVIII co-administrated with IVIG decreases the anti-FVIII immune response in previously untreated hemophilia A mice. IVIG co-administration may be effective in the management of hemophilia patients at risk of inhibitor development. However, the exact mechanism of the immunoregulatory effect of the treatment remained unclear. Considering the fact that various cells and pathways are involved in the anti-FVIII immune response, further studies should be conducted to determine the mechanisms of this effect. Performing Bethesda assay on experimental samples should be considered in future studies in order to distinguish between neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibodies to specify the level of inhibitors. Also, more experiments should be done to investigate the characterization of type of immune response by isotyping immunoglobulins and determining cytokines profile and immune cells, especially CD4+ T cells, profiling.

References

- [1] B. Zimmerman and L. a Valentino, "Hemophilia: in review.," *Pediatr. Rev.*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 289–94;, Jul. 2013.
- [2] N. Mackman, R. E. Tilley, and N. S. Key, "Role of the extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation in hemostasis and thrombosis," *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 1687–1693, 2007.
- [3] M. Golder, J. Mewburn, and D. Lillicrap, "In vitro and in vivo evaluation of the effect of elevated factor VIII on the thrombogenic process.," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 109, no. 1, pp. 53–60, 2013.
- [4] J. Soucie, B. Evatt, and D. Jackson, "Occurrence of hemophilia in the United States," *Am. J. Hematol.*, vol. 294, no. April, pp. 288–294, 1998.
- [5] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Hemophilia Data & Statistics." [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hemophilia/data.html.
- [6] Canadian Hemophilia Society, "No Title." [Online]. Available: http://www.hemophilia.ca/.
- [7] F. Peyvandi, "Seminar The past and future of haemophilia: diagnosis, treatments, and its complications," *Lancet*, vol. 6736, no. 15, pp. 1–11, 2016.
- [8] I. N. R. LJUNG, P. PETRINI, "Diagnostic symptoms of severe and moderate Haemophilia A and B," *Acta Paediatr Scand*, pp. 196–200, 1990.
- [9] M. Franchini and P. M. Mannucci, "Hemophilia A in the third millennium," *Blood Rev.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 179–184, 2013.
- [10] M. Shima, T. Matsumoto, and K. Ogiwara, "New assays for monitoring haemophilia treatment," *Haemophilia*, vol. 14, no. SUPPL. 3, pp. 83–92, 2008.
- [11] J. J. Potgieter, M. Damgaard, and A. Hillarp, "One-stage vs. chromogenic assays in haemophilia A," *Eur. J. Haematol.*, vol. 94, pp. 38–44, 2015.
- [12] T. W. Barrowcliffe, S. Raut, D. Sands, and A. R. Hubbard, "Coagulation and chromogenic assays of factor VIII activity: General aspects, standardization, and recommendations," *Semin. Thromb. Hemost.*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 247–255, 2002.
- [13] E. Berntorp and A. D. Shapiro, "Modern haemophilia care," *Lancet*, vol. 379, no. 9824, pp. 1447–1456, 2012.
- [14] World Federation of Hemophilia, "Guidelines for the Management of Hemophilia," *World Fed. Hemoph.*, 2005.
- [15] R. Ljung and N. Gretenkort Andersson, "The current status of prophylactic replacement therapy in children and adults with haemophilia.," *Br. J. Haematol.*, vol. 169, no. 6, pp. 777–86, 2015.
- [16] R. Schwarz, R. Ljung, and U. Tedgård, "Various regimens for prophylactic treatment of patients with haemophilia," *Eur. J. Haematol.*, vol. 94, no. s77, pp. 11–16, 2015.
- [17] P. M. Mannucci, "Hemophilia : treatment options in the twenty-first century," pp. 1349–1355, 2003.
- [18] M. Morfini, A. Coppola, M. Franchini, and G. Di Minno, "Clinical use of factor VIII and factor IX concentrates," *Blood Transfus.*, vol. 11, no. SUPPL. 4, 2013.
- [19] S. C. Darby, S. W. Kan, R. J. Spooner, P. L. F. Giangrande, F. G. H. Hill, C. R. M. Hay, C. Lee, C. Ludlam, M. Williams, "Mortality rates, life expectancy, and causes of

death in people with hemophilia A or B in the United Kingdom who were not infected with HIV," *Haemophilia*, vol. 110, no. 3, pp. 815–825, 2009.

- [20] G. Young, "New challenges in hemophilia: long-term outcomes and complications.," *Hematology*, pp. 362–8, 2012.
- [21] S. André, Y. Meslier, J. D. Dimitrov, Y. Repessé, S. V Kaveri, S. Lacroix-Desmazes, and S. Dasgupta, "A cellular viewpoint of anti-FVIII immune response in hemophilia A.," *Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol.*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 105–13, Oct. 2009.
- [22] R. Thompson, "Structure and function of the factor VIII gene and protein," *Semin Thromb Hemost*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 11–22, 2003.
- [23] G. Castaldo, V. D'Argenio, P. Nardiello, F. Zarrilli, V. Sanna, A. Rocino, A. Coppola, G. Di Minno, and F. Salvatore, "Haemophilia A: molecular insights.," *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 450–61, Jan. 2007.
- [24] R. Natalia, L. Jayne, T. Shawn, J. Paula, and D. Lillicrap, "The Canadian 'National program for hemophilia mutation testing' database: A ten-year review," *Am. J. Hematol.*, vol. 88, no. 12, pp. 1030–1034, 2013.
- [25] Y. Jourdy, C. Nougier, O. Roualdes, M. Fretigny, B. Durand, C. Negrier, and C. Vinciguerra, "Characterization of five associations of F8 missense mutations containing FVIII B domain mutations," *Haemophilia*, pp. 1–7, 2016.
- [26] S. Shetty, M. Bhave, and K. Ghosh, "Challenges of multiple mutations in individual patients with haemophilia," *Eur. J. Haematol.*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 185–190, 2011.
- [27] S. C. Gouw, H. M. Van Den Berg, J. Oldenburg, J. Astermark, P. G. De Groot, M. Margaglione, A. R. Thompson, W. Van Heerde, J. Boekhorst, and C. H. Miller, "F8 gene mutation type and inhibitor development in patients with severe hemophilia A : systematic review and meta-analysis," vol. 119, no. 12, pp. 2922–2934, 2012.
- [28] G. Jayandharan, A. Srivastava, and A. Srivastava, "Role of molecular genetics in hemophilia: From diagnosis to therapy," *Semin. Thromb. Hemost.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 64–78, 2012.
- [29] K. Ghosh and S. Shetty, "Immune response to FVIII in hemophilia A: an overview of risk factors.," *Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol.*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 58–66, Oct. 2009.
- [30] R. L. R. L. Bohn, L. M. ALEDORT, K. Putnam, B. Ewenstein, H. Mogun, and J. J. Avorn, "The economic impact of factor VIII inhibitors in patients with haemophilia," *Haemophilia*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 63–68, 2004.
- [31] M. Escobar and S. Sallah, "Hemophilia A and hemophilia B: Focus on arthropathy and variables affecting bleeding severity and prophylaxis," *J. Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1449–1453, 2013.
- [32] B. M. Reipert, "Risky business of inhibitors: HLA haplotypes, gene polymorphisms, and immune responses," *Hematology*, vol. 2014, no. 1, pp. 372–378, 2014.
- [33] W. Kreuz and C. E. Ettingshausen, "Inhibitors in patients with haemophilia A.," *Thromb. Res.*, pp. 1–5, Apr. 2014.
- [34] J. Astermark, "Why do inhibitors develop? Principles of and factors influencing the risk for inhibitor development in haemophilia.," *Haemophilia*, vol. 12 Suppl 3, pp. 52– 60, Jul. 2006.
- [35] M. Jacquemin and J.-M. Saint-Remy, "T cell response to FVIII.," *Cell. Immunol.*, vol. 301, pp. 7–10, 2015.
- [36] N. S. Key, "Inhibitors in congenital coagulation disorders.," *Br. J. Haematol.*, vol. 127, no. 4, pp. 379–91, Nov. 2004.

- [37] D. Dimichele, G. Rivard, C. Hay, and S. Antunes, "Inhibitors in haemophilia: clinical aspects.," *Haemophilia*, vol. 10 Suppl 4, pp. 140–5, Oct. 2004.
- [38] S. C. Gouw, H. M. van den Berg, K. Fischer, G. Auerswald et al. "Intensity of factor VIII treatment and inhibitor development in children with severe hemophilia A: the RODIN study.," *Blood*, vol. 121, no. 20, pp. 4046–4055, 2013.
- [39] J. Yan, B. P. Harvey, R. J. Gee, M. J. Shlomchik, and M. J. Mamula, "B cells drive early T cell autoimmunity in vivo prior to dendritic cell-mediated autoantigen presentation.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 177, no. 7, pp. 4481–4487, 2006.
- [40] K. Murphy, Janeway's immunobiology, 8th ed. Garland Science, 2007.
- [41] M. T. Reding, D. K. Okita, B. M. Diethelm-Okita, T. a Anderson, and B. M. Conti-Fine, "Human CD4+ T-cell epitope repertoire on the C2 domain of coagulation factor VIII.," J. Thromb. Haemost., vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 1777–1784, 2003.
- [42] G. L. Bray, B. L. Kroner, S. Arkin, L. W. Aledort, M. W. Hilgartner, M. E. Eyster, M. V Ragni, and J. J. Goedert, "Loss of high-responder inhibitors in patients with severe hemophilia A and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: a report from the Multi-Center Hemophilia Cohort Study.," *Am. J. Hematol.*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 375–379, 1993.
- [43] G. Hu, D. Guo, N. S. Key, and B. M. Conti-fine, "Cytokine production by CD4 + T cells specific for coagulation factor VIII in healthy subjects and haemophilia A patients," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 97, pp. 788–794, 2007.
- [44] S. C. Gouw, J. G. van der Bom, R. Ljung, C. Escuriola, A. R. Cid, S. Claeyssens-Donadel, C. van Geet, G. Kenet, A. Mäkipernaa, A. C. Molinari, W. Muntean, R. Kobelt, G. Rivard, E. Santagostino, A. Thomas, and H. M. van den Berg, "Factor VIII products and inhibitor development in severe hemophilia A.," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 368, no. 3, pp. 231–9, Jan. 2013.
- [45] P. W. Collins, B. P. Palmer, E. A. Chalmers, D. P. Hart, R. Liesner, S. Rangarajan, K. Talks, M. Williams, and C. R. Hay, "Factor VIII brand and the incidence of factor VIII inhibitors in previously untreated UK children with severe haemophilia A, 2000-2011 Running title: Inhibitors in previously untreated patients," vol. 124, no. 23, pp. 3389–3398, 2014.
- [46] T. Calvez, H. Chambost, S. Claeyssens-Donadel, R. D 'oiron, V. Goulet, B. Guillet, V. Héritier, V. Milien, C. Rothschild, and V. Roussel-Robert, "Recombinant factor VIII products and inhibitor development in previously untreated boys with severe hemophilia A Key points," vol. 124, no. 23, pp. 3398–3409, 2014.
- [47] F. Peyvandi, P. M. Mannucci, I. Garagiola, et al. "Source of factor VIII replacement (plasmatic or recombinant) and incidence of inhibitory alloantibodies in previously untreated patients with severe hemophilia A: The multicenter randomized Sippet study," Presented at American Society of Hematology. December, 2015.
- [48] J. Schwarz, J. Astermark, E. D. Menius, M. Carrington, S. M. Donfield, E. D. Gomperts, G. W. Nelson, J. Oldenburg, A. Pavlova, A. D. Shapiro, C. A. Winkler, and E. Berntorp, "F8 haplotype and inhibitor risk: Results from the Hemophilia Inhibitor Genetics Study (HIGS) Combined Cohort," *Haemophilia*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 113–118, 2013.
- [49] S. Delignat, Y. Repessé, a. M. Navarrete, Y. Meslier, N. Gupta, O. D. Christophe, S. V. Kaveri, and S. Lacroix-Desmazes, "Immunoprotective effect of von Willebrand factor towards therapeutic factor VIII in experimental haemophilia A," *Haemophilia*,

vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 248–254, 2012.

- [50] M. Qadura, B. Waters, E. Burnett, R. Chegeni, S. Bradshaw, C. Hough, M. Othman, and D. Lillicrap, "Recombinant and plasma-derived factor VIII products induce distinct splenic cytokine microenvironments in hemophilia A mice.," *Blood*, vol. 114, no. 4, pp. 871–80, Jul. 2009.
- [51] R. V Iyer, R. G. Watts, C. Lutcher, C. Channell, S. A. Cole, D. Ph, K. M. Fernstrom, S. Nakaya, C. K. Kasper, A. R. Thompson, D. Ph, L. Almasy, D. Ph, T. E. Howard, and D. Ph, "Inhibitors of Factor VIII in Black Patients with Hemophilia," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, pp. 1618–1627, 2009.
- [52] P. Pinto, K. Ghosh, and S. Shetty, "Immune regulatory gene polymorphisms as predisposing risk factors for the development of factor VIII inhibitors in Indian severe haemophilia A patients.," *Haemophilia*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 794–7, Sep. 2012.
- [53] A. Haemophilia, C. Directors, and O. September, "GUIDELINES FOR THE TREATMENT OF INHIBITORS IN HAEMOPHILIA A," no. September, 2004.
- [54] K. P. Ponder, "FIXing factor VIII inhibitors.," *Blood*, vol. 119, no. 2, pp. 325–6, Jan. 2012.
- [55] C. L. Kempton and S. L. Meeks, "Review Article Toward optimal therapy for inhibitors in hemophilia," vol. 124, no. 23, pp. 3365–3373, 2015.
- [56] D. DiMichele, "The North American Immune Tolerance Registry: Contributions to the thirty-year experience with immune tolerance therapy," *Haemophilia*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 320–328, 2009.
- [57] J. Wight, S. Paisley, and C. Knight, "Immune tolerance induction in patients with haemophilia A with inhibitors: a systematic review.," *Haemophilia*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 436–463, 2003.
- [58] M. R. Baghaipour and K. Steen Carlsson, "Strategies for inhibitor treatment and costs in the short and long term: a critical evaluation of recent clinical studies," *Eur. J. Haematol.*, vol. 94, pp. 30–37, 2015.
- [59] G. Hu, D. Guo, N. S. Key, and B. M. Conti-Fine, "Cytokine production by CD4+ T cells specific for coagulation factor VIII in healthy subjects and haemophilia A patients," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 97, pp. 788–794, 2007.
- [60] C. L. Kempton, G. Allen, and Jeffrey Hord, "Eradication of Factor VIII Inhibitors in Patients with Mild and Moderate Hemophilia A," *Am. J. Hematol.*, vol. 87, no. 9, pp. 933–936, 2012.
- [61] D. R. Branch, "Unraveling the IVIG mystique," *Transfusion*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 242–244, 2013.
- [62] I. Schwab and F. Nimmerjahn, "Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy: how does IgG modulate the immune system?," *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 176–189, 2013.
- [63] E. Gelfand, "Intravenous immune globulin in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 367, no. 21, pp. 1979–87, 2012.
- [64] R. Ross, "IMMUNOMODULATION OF AUTOIMMUNE AND INFLAMMATORY DISEASES WITH INTRAVENOUS IMMUNE GLOBULIN," N. Engl. J. Med., vol. 345, no. 10, pp. 115–126, 2001.
- [65] C. Prins, E. W. Gelfand, and L. E. French, "Intravenous immunoglobulin: Properties, mode of action and practical use in dermatology," *Acta Derm. Venereol.*, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 206–218, 2007.
- [66] H.-P. Hartung, "Advances in the understanding of the mechanism of action of IVIg.,"

J. Neurol., vol. 255 Suppl, pp. 3-6, 2008.

- [67] Y. Katsman, A. H. Foo, D. Leontyev, and D. R. Branch, "Improved mouse models for the study of treatment modalities for immune-mediated platelet destruction," *Transfusion*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1285–1294, 2010.
- [68] I. St-Amour, M. Bousquet, I. Paré, J. Drouin-Ouellet, F. Cicchetti, R. Bazin, and F. Calon, "Impact of intravenous immunoglobulin on the dopaminergic system and immune response in the acute MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease," *J. Neuroinflammation*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 234, 2012.
- [69] L. P. Cousens, R. Tassone, B. D. Mazer, V. Ramachandiran, D. W. Scott, and A. S. De Groot, "Tregitope update: mechanism of action parallels IVIg.," *Autoimmun. Rev.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 436–43, Jan. 2013.
- [70] D. Vignali, L. Collison, and C. Workman, "How regulatory T cells work," *Nat Rev Immunol*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 523–532, 2009.
- [71] G. Hu, D. Guo, N. S. Key, and B. M. Conti-Fine, "Cytokine production by CD4+Tcells specificfor coagulation factorVIII in healthy subjects and haemophiliaApatients," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 304–309, 2007.
- [72] B. Peng, P. Ye, B. R. Blazar, G. J. Freeman, D. J. Rawlings, H. D. Ochs, and C. H. Miao, "Transient blockade of the inducible costimulator pathway generates long-term tolerance to factor VIII after nonviral gene transfer into hemophilia A mice," *Blood*, vol. 112, no. 5, pp. 1662–1672, 2008.
- [73] L. P. Cousens, N. Najafian, F. Mingozzi, W. Elyaman, B. Mazer, L. Moise, T. J. Messitt, Y. Su, M. Sayegh, K. High, S. J. Khoury, D. W. Scott, and A. S. De Groot, "In vitro and in vivo studies of IgG-derived Treg epitopes (Tregitopes): a promising new tool for tolerance induction and treatment of autoimmunity.," *J. Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 33 Suppl 1, pp. S43–9, Jan. 2013.
- [74] L. P. Cousens, Y. Su, E. McClaine, X. Li, F. Terry, R. Smith, J. Lee, W. Martin, D. W. Scott, and A. S. De Groot, "Application of IgG-derived natural Treg epitopes (IgG Tregitopes) to antigen-specific tolerance induction in a murine model of type 1 diabetes.," *J. Diabetes Res.*, vol. 2013, p. 621693, Jan. 2013.
- [75] B. M. Reipert, A. Schoppmann, H. P. Schwarz, M. Behrmann, R. Kotitschke, and M. Kloft, "A caution on the use of murine hemophilia models for comparative immunogenicity studies of FVIII products with different protein compositions (multiple letters)," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 89, no. 6, pp. 1110–1113, 2003.
- [76] L. Adorini, S. Muller, F. Cardinaux, P. Lehman, and Z. A. Nagy, "In vivo competition between self peptides and foreign antigens in T-cell activation," *Nature*, vol. 336, pp. 403–405, 1988.
- [77] a. L. Smith, M. E. Wikstrom, and S. G. B. Fazekas de, "Visualizing T cell competition for peptide/MHC complexes: A specific mechanism to minimize the effect of precursor frequency," *Immunity*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 783–794, 2000.
- [78] J. D. Hunt, D. C. Jackson, P. R. Wood, D. J. Stewart, and L. E. Brown,
 "Immunological parameters associated with antigenic competition in a multivalent footrot vaccine," *Vaccine*, vol. 13, no. 17, pp. 1649–1657, 1995.
- [79] M. Qadura, B. Waters, E. Burnett, R. Chegeni, S. Bradshaw, C. Hough, M. Othman, and D. Lillicrap, "Recombinant and plasma-derived factor VIII products induce distinct splenic cytokine microenvironments in hemophilia A mice," *Blood*, vol. 114, no. 4, pp. 871–880, 2009.

- [80] C. García-Martín, M. K. L. Chuah, A. Van Damme, K. E. Robinson, B. Vanzieleghem, J. M. Saint-Remy, D. Gallardo, F. a. Ofosu, T. Vandendriessche, and G. Hortelano, "Therapeutic levels of human Factor VIII in mice implanted with encapsulated cells: Potential for gene therapy of haemophilia A," *J. Gene Med.*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 215–223, 2002.
- [81] G. Hortelano, A. Al-Hendy, F. a. Ofosu, and P. I Chang, "Delivery of Human Factor IX in Mice by Encapsulated Recombinant Myoblasts: A Novel Approach Towards Allogeneic Gene Therapy of Hemophilia B By," *Blood*, vol. 15, no. 87, pp. 95–103, 1996.
- [82] J. R. Crowther, *The Elisa Guidebook*. Humana Press, 2000.
- [83] I. St-Amour, I. Paré, C. Tremblay, K. Coulombe, R. Bazin, and F. Calon, "IVIg protects the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease from memory deficit and Abeta pathology.," *J. Neuroinflammation*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 54, 2014.
- [84] D. Leontyev, A. Neschadim, and D. R. Branch, "Cytokine profiles in mouse models of experimental immune thrombocytopenia reveal a lack of inflammation and differences in response to intravenous immunoglobulin depending on the mouse strain," *Transfusion*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 2871–2879, 2014.
- [85] M. a. Sahud, K. P. Pratt, O. Zhukov, K. Qu, and a. R. Thompson, "ELISA system for detection of immune responses to FVIII: A study of 246 samples and correlation with the Bethesda assay," *Haemophilia*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 317–322, 2007.
- [86] E. I. B. Peerschke, D. D. Castellone, M. Ledford-Kraemer, E. M. Van Cott, and P. Meijer, "Laboratory assessment of factor viii inhibitor titer the north american specialized coagulation laboratory association experience," *Am. J. Clin. Pathol.*, vol. 131, no. 4, pp. 552–558, 2009.
- [87] A. R. Giles, B. Verbruggen, G. E. Rivard, J. Teitel, and I. Walker, "A detailed comparison of the performance of the standard versus the Nijmegen modification of the Bethesda assay in detecting Factor VIII:C inhibitors in the haemophilia A population of Canada," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 872–875, 1998.